#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \*

KIRK ROSS HARRISON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 08 2015 11:09 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

NO. 66072

VS.

VIVIAN MARIE LEE HARRISON,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK BRYCE DUCKWORTH, DISTRICT JUDGE

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT L. EISENBERG (Bar #0950) Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg 6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor Reno, Nevada 89519 Phone: 775-786-6868

Email: rle@lge.net

KIRK R. HARRISON (Bar #0861)

1535 Sherri Lane

Boulder City, Nevada 89005

Phone: (702) 271-6000

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Decree of Divorce was filed on October 31, 2013. 15A.App.3254. A Motion to Alter, Amend, Correct and Clarify Judgment was filed on November 14, 2013, which tolled the appeal time. 16A.App.3316-3332. The Findings, Conclusions and Orders dealing with attorneys' fees was filed on February 10, 2014. Notice of Entry of the Order resolving the tolling motion was served via electronic mail on June 16, 2014. 16A.App.3407-3414. The appeal was timely, because it was filed on July 7, 2014 (16A.App.3415-3452), which was within 30 days after service of the notice of entry.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether NRS 125.150(3) authorizes the court to award fees based upon a legal recognized standard consistent with the laws of the State of Nevada or arbitrarily and capriciously without any legal standard.
- 2. Whether there must be a recognized justifiable basis for attorney's fees when a motion is filed under NRS 125.150(3) to avoid arbitrary and capricious awards and to discourage the filing of such motions unless there is a recognized justifiable basis.
- 3. Whether the court erred in applying *Sargeant v. Sargeant*, 88 Nev. 223, 495 P.2d 618 (1972) when there was no disparity in income between the parties, and respondent (Vivian) was "afforded her day in court without destroying her financial position," "able to meet her adversary in the courtroom on an equal basis," and did not have to spend a penny of her savings.
- 4. Whether the court erred in awarding attorneys fees when there was no evidence there was any cause and effect between the attorney's fees incurred by Vivian and the fact appellant (Kirk) participated in the drafting of affidavits and points and authorities, especially when it was evident that Vivian prepared an

- extensive initial draft of her motion for custody and her own affidavit.
- 5. Whether the court erred in affirming the Discovery Commissioner's award of \$5,000.00 against Kirk in the circumstances of this case.
- 6. Whether the court erred in failing to prevent or sanction Vivian's attorneys for unnecessarily prolonging the litigation to enable them to continue to "spend down" the community.
- 7. Whether the court erred in denying Kirk's motion for equitable relief when the granting of the motion was necessary to prevent manifest injustice.
- 8. Whether the court erred in denying Kirk's motion for attorney's fees when Vivian's attorneys clearly acted in bad faith and in violation of EDCR 7.60(b)(3) during the November 2011 mediation and unnecessarily prolonged the litigation thereafter.
- 9. Whether the court erred in agreeing (and essentially finding) that motions for partial summary judgment cannot be filed in family court under *Gojack v*. *District Court*, 95 Nev. 443, 596 P.2d 237 (1979), prior to custody being resolved and a party who filed such a motion would risk the ire of the court.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

The complaint was served on September 14, 2011. 1A.App.1. Custody was resolved by stipulation and order on July 11, 2012. 7A.App.1408-1424. The balance of the case was resolved and confirmed on the record before the court on December 3, 2012. 15A.App.3254-3255.

There was no evidentiary hearing or trial. 16A.App.3336.<sup>1</sup> Only four depositions were taken. 8A.App.1565;9A.App.1836. Only five motions (Vivian initiated four of them) of any significance were filed prior to the hearing on the motion and counter motion for attorney's fees. 8A.App.1565;9A.App.1836.

On October 25, 2011, just 41 days after the service of the complaint, Vivian's attorneys represented to the court that the "vast majority" of the community was comprised of financial accounts, which were not in dispute. 16A.App.3454; 8A.App. 1593;9A.App.1836. Over 90 percent of the community estate was comprised of financial accounts, other liquid assets, and other assets which were never in dispute. 8A.App.1707;9A.App.1793.

There was a trial date of December 3, 2012, and the court made it clear the trial date would not be continued. Vivian's attorneys voiced their strong displeasure that the trial date was not continued. 8A.App.1722. The parties had a settlement meeting on November 29, 2012. 8A.App.1723. During that settlement meeting, the amount in controversy was less than \$200,000. 8A.App.1793.

The hearing on the motion and counter motion for attorney's fees was on October 30, 2013 and the court's consideration of attorney's fees was only through January of 2013. There was an evidentiary hearing subsequently on January 22, 2014. 16A.App.3335-3336.

Vivian's attorneys and experts billed \$683,946.00 [\$412,765.56 + \$254,255.24 + \$16,925.20] through January 30, 2013.<sup>2</sup> 9A.App.1799-1800. The court overstated the fees and costs paid by Vivian at \$686,341.33 [\$412,765.56 + \$251,650.57 + \$21,925.20] 16A.App.3341,3361. Kirk's attorneys and experts billed \$461,215.17 [\$247,477.36 + \$213,737.81] through January 15, 2013. 9A.App.1801-1802. The court understated the amount of fees and costs paid by Kirk at \$448,738.21 [\$235,154.40 + \$213,583.81]. 16A.App.3341,3362.

Vivian's two law firms had sixteen different people billing time to this case, including eight different attorneys. 8A.App.1617-1618;9A.App.1836;10A.App.2051-2148. Vivian had two or three attorneys attend every hearing. Kirk had one or two. 8A.App.1608-1610;9A.App.1836. Vivian had three named partners attend a discovery hearing. Kirk had two. 8A.App.1610;9A.App.1836. Vivian had two named partners attend three of the four depositions. Kirk had one. 8A.App.1611-1613;9A.App.1836. Vivian hired an attorney from Reno and paid his and his partner's full hourly rates to travel to and from Las Vegas in what appears to be 22 rides just through December of 2012. 10A.App.2063-64,2068,2074,2076,2079,2080,2085(twice),2094-95. Both of Kirk's attorneys are in Las Vegas. For the preparation and participation in a two day mediation, Vivian's attorneys billed \$40,725.00. Kirk's attorneys billed \$27,400.00 for their preparation and participation. 8A.App.1613-1614. One of Vivian's attorneys billed approximately \$85,050.00 to prepare a 56 page opposition and counter motion for

As of the filing of Kirk's reply in support of his counter motion for attorney's fees on October 21, 2013, it is estimated that Vivian's attorney's had billed \$1,000,000.00. 15A.App.3078.

custody. 9A.App.1844-1846. At \$450 per hour, that equates to 3.38 hours per page. 9A.App.1846.

Vivian paid \$57,107.75 in attorney costs, which included airfare charges to and from Reno and stays at the Four Seasons Hotel and Green Valley Ranch Hotel & Spa. 8A.App.1623,1624;9A.App.1799,1800,1804,1836;10A.App.2071,2074,2079,2081, 2083,2085,2093,2095,2097. Kirk paid \$20,157.67. 9A.App.1801-1802,1804,1836. Vivian had six custody experts, who charged \$46,580.00. Kirk had four, who charged \$27,500.00. 8A.App.1621-1623,1625-1626;9A.App.1804,1836. Vivian paid \$14,176.87 to a personal property valuation expert. Kirk paid \$2,000.00 to a personal property valuation expert for the identical scope of work. 8A.App.1624; 9A.App.1804,1836. Vivian had two financial experts who billed a total of \$64,591.35. Kirk had one financial expert who billed a total of \$17,800.00. 8A.App.1620-1621,1625;9A.App.1804,1836. Vivian paid real estate appraisers a total of \$17,275.00. Kirk paid real estate appraisers, who appraised the same properties, a total of \$11,400.00. 8A.App.1626-1627;9A.App.1804,1836.

Vivian filed a motion for attorney's fees and sanctions on April 3, 2013. 7A.App.1425. Kirk filed an opposition and counter motions, including a motion for fees and sanctions on May 28, 2013. 8A.App.1549. The court entered its Findings, Conclusions and Orders on February 10, 2014, wherein it awarded Vivian \$91,240.00 in attorney's fees. 16A.App.3333,3358. Kirk appeals that award and the denial of his motion for equitable relief and counter motion for attorney's fees.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In an effort to resolve this matter expeditiously and amicably, Kirk initiated a mediation with mediator Robert Lueck. 9A.App.1837-1838. Vivian was then represented by Robert Dickerson. In response to Dickerson's requests, Kirk produced substantial documentation at the beginning of both days of mediation, including a

current statement for every financial account, and then spent most of those two days (May 6 & 23, 2011) responding to questions from Dickerson. 9A.App.1839-1840. Dickerson was utilizing the services of Melissa Attanasio as a financial expert. There was also another meeting in Dickerson's office, where Kirk continued to answer questions by Dickerson and Attanasio. 6A.App.1318;9A.App.1839-1840. It was apparent that Dickerson did not want to resolve anything and Vivian terminated his services and the mediation on July 15, 2011. 8A.App.1585-1586; 9A.App.1836,1840,1870.

Kirk advised his counsel, Standish, that he wanted to schedule another mediation as soon as Vivian retained new counsel. Standish broached mediation during his first telephone call with Silverman on July 28, 2011. Vivian's attorneys were unwilling to schedule a mediation for a period of time. It then became clear that Vivian's attorneys would not participate in a mediation until after filing a motion for temporary custody. 8A.App.1705-1706;8A.App.1718-1719. The subsequent production of their billing records revealed Vivian's attorneys exchanged a "draft Motion" on September 2, 2011. 10A.App.2101.

As a consequence of Vivian's attorneys' refusal to schedule a mediation until after the filing of a motion for temporary custody, Kirk became concerned that Vivian's attorneys' ability to have the community pay their fees was an impediment to an expeditious resolution of the entire matter, and wanted to file a motion for partial summary judgment because more than 90 percent of the community was never in dispute. 8A.App.1719-1720. Kirk's attorneys advised him that *Gojack v. District Court*, 95 Nev. 443, 596 P.2d 237 (1979) precluded such a motion and Kirk would risk the ire of the court if he were to file such a motion. 8A.App.1707.

The district court later agreed with Kirk's attorneys' advice (i.e., that partial summary judgments are unavailable in family court before a custody determination);

the district court referred to it as "wise advice," noting that Kirk expressed frustration by "complaining that 'parties in Family Court are more hostages, than clients." 16A.App.3346. The district court therefore essentially determined that summary judgments are unavailable in family court while custody is still pending.

In an effort to avoid a costly and highly adversarial custody battle, on October 3, 2011, Kirk's counsel, Ed Kainen, requested Vivian's attorneys to stipulate to Dr. John Paglini doing an independent custody evaluation. This request was denied. 8A.App.1720.

As noted, Kirk initiated the second mediation between the parties. The parties selected Jim Jimmerson as the mediator. The second mediation finally took place on November 28 & 29, 2011. 8A.App.1720. Vivian's attorneys continued to utilize the financial services of Melissa Attanasio and on the eve of this mediation requested current statements for each financial account. 6A.App.1318. Vivian's attorneys had previously represented to the court that the "vast majority" of the community was not in dispute and this request, understandably, led Kirk and his attorneys to conclude that the updated statements was all the information Vivian's attorneys and Attanasio financial portion of the case. 16A.App.3454; the settle needed to 8A.App.1593;8A.App.1720;9A.App.1836. However, unbeknownst to Kirk and his attorneys, on the very eve of the mediation, on November 21, 2011, Vivian's attorneys were preparing requests for production and interrogatories seeking the discovery of 10 years of financial statements from every financial institution. 8A.App.1587;10A.App.2116.

At the beginning of the first joint session of the mediation, Vivian's counsel, Gary Silverman, in Vivian's presence, stated that the filing of the older daughters' affidavits was the most shocking outrageous thing he had ever seen a parent do in all the years he had practiced family law. Attorney Smith then agreed, stating that he

was of the same opinion.<sup>3</sup> 9A.App.1841,1843. Kirk, who has participated in hundreds of mediations, has never seen attorneys so obviously sabotage a mediation. 9A.App.1841.

During the joint session, Kirk proposed the parties: jointly retain a neutral national medical expert in narcissistic personality disorders; agree to a protocol where the neutral expert would be given all of the documents and interview all of the people necessary, including Vivian, Kirk, the two adult daughters, and Drs. Roitman and Thienhaus, so that he could make a fully informed decision about the cause of Vivian's behavior; and agree to be bound by whatever the neutral medical expert determined. 9A.App.1841. Silverman rejected the proposal without discussion. 9A.App.1841.

Kirk then made the same proposal, but with the modification that neither party would be bound by the neutral medical expert's determination, but the parties would agree, in good faith, to utilize that determination to jointly craft a custody arrangement which would both safeguard the minor children, Brooke and Rylee, and insure Vivian got the professional help she needed, if any. 9A.App.1841-1842. Kirk assumed that merely asking for an agreement where the parties agreed to negotiate a custody arrangement in good faith for the best interests of Brooke and Rylee would be readily accepted. However, Silverman summarily rejected that proposal without discussion as well. 9A.App.1841-1842. Nothing was resolved at the mediation 9A.App.1841-1842.

Kirk continued his efforts to have custody amicably and expeditiously resolved by a neutral third party determination. During the hearing before the court on

While being represented by Silverman and Smith, but prior to seeing the oldest daughters' affidavits, Vivian approached the parties' oldest daughter about providing an affidavit. 8A.App.1588;9A.App.1843.

February 1, 2012, Kirk's counsel proposed the court appoint a third party neutral medical expert. Kirk requested, as part of that evaluation, that Dr. Paglini interview not only Vivian, but Kirk, their oldest daughters, Dr. Roitman, and one of Vivian's three experts to be chosen by Vivian. 9A.App.1949-1950,1961-1962. Dr. Paglini could also interview any other percipient witness, including any and all of Vivian's friends, if he so desired. Under such parameters whereby Dr. Paglini would be enabled to make a fully informed opinion, Kirk, through counsel, represented to the court that he would agree to be bound by the psychological assessment Dr. Paglini made to the court, realizing the court would make the ultimate custody evaluation. 9A.App.1949-1950,1961-1962. Under such circumstances, Kirk believed that a prolonged and costly "war of the experts" was avoided. 9A.App.1953. The court confirmed it also had this understanding or, at least, hope this was the case during the hearing on February 1, 2012, stating:

I'm looking for assistance on psychological assessments, who would essentially take what has been generated on both sides and provide the Court with a report that perhaps dispenses with the need to have a battle of the experts.

#### 9A.App.1953.

Vivian once again opposed the appointment of a neutral medical expert to conduct an independent psychological assessment of Vivian. 9A.App.1954,1960. The court ultimately granted Kirk's request that Dr. Paglini be appointed to conduct an independent psychological assessment of Vivian. 7A.App.1405;9A.App.1970.

Kirk requested the court to stay the proceedings pending Dr. Paglini's determination, but Vivian opposed the stay. 9A.App.1950,1985-86. The court denied Kirk's request for a stay. 7A.App.1405;9A.App.1986.

Kirk again attempted to stay the proceedings pending Dr. Paglini's determination. Standish, in response to a request from Kirk, approached Vivian's

attorneys and made another request for a stay pending Dr. Paglini's determination. This request was also denied. 8A.App.1710.

The court appointed Dr. Paglini to conduct an independent psychological assessment on February 24, 2012, and while this assessment was pending, Vivian's attorneys subpoenaed the following irrelevant "medical records": (1) Costco Vision Center (where Kirk gets his eyes examined and buys his glasses); (2) Dr. Robert R. Earl (Kirk's dentist); (3) Dr. Grace Shin (Kirk's ophthalmologist); (4) Dr. Walter Schroeder (Kirk's Ear, Nose & Throat specialist); (5) Dr. Jason Zommick (Kirk's urologist), and (6) Dr. Warren Smith (a general practitioner). 8A.App.1619; 9A.App.1836.

While the Dr. Paglini assessment was pending, Vivian's attorneys took Dr. Roitman's and Kirk's depositions, noticed the parties' oldest daughter's deposition, and were scheduling the deposition of the parties' second oldest daughter. 8A.App.1591;9A.App.1836.

While the Dr. Paglini assessment was pending, Vivian's attorneys retained their fifth custody expert, who opined that Vivian's taking numerous drugs for over seven years was somehow acceptable, despite FDA warning labels that such drugs can only be taken for a few weeks. 4A.App.686,758,801-804; 8A.App.1591,1710; 9A.App.1836. Vivian's attorneys thereafter retained a sixth custody expert, an anthropologist, who opined a mother should sleep in the same bed with her teenage children. 4A.App.801-804;8A.App.1591,1710;9A.App.1836.

Kirk's attorneys were concerned with what they saw was going on with the case and advised Kirk that if he did not resolve custody, Vivian's attorneys would cause Kirk to incur an additional \$1 million to \$1.5 million before the case could be resolved. 8A.App.1710;9A.App1844.

Only Kirk agreed to be bound by Dr. Paglini's findings. Vivian did not. 15A.App.3080. Kirk realized that if Dr. Paglini found that Vivian had a narcissistic personality disorder, Vivian's attorneys would convince Vivian she had to be vindicated, and he believed that Vivian's attorneys were determined to put their family through extended discovery and an emotional trial even if they had to be paid millions of dollars to do so. 15A.App.3080-3081. When Dr. Roitman warned Kirk that Brooke and Rylee were at risk from the continuation of the already protracted divorce proceeding, Kirk concluded it would be better to settle custody prior to Dr. Paglini's findings when there would be perceived risk by Vivian, which she would want to avoid. 8A.App.1709;9A.App.1709;15A.App.3080-3081.

Kirk believed that if he waited for Dr. Paglini's findings, one of three outcomes were most likely. 15A.App.3081. First, if Dr. Paglini found Vivian had narcissistic personality disorder (NPD), with the encouragement of her attorneys, as just noted, Vivian would feel she needed to be vindicated in a full blown trial, preceded by the depositions of all of parties' adult children and all of the legion of experts retained in the case. *Id.* Second, if Dr. Paglini found there was another cause to Vivian's years of aberrant and delusional behavior, Vivian would need to be similarly vindicated. *Id.* And third, if Dr. Paglini ignored the years of aberrant and delusional behavior by Vivian and found Vivian did not have NPD or any other malady, it was becoming obvious to Kirk and his counsel that it would also be impossible to settle custody with joint physical custody without extensive discovery and a very expensive and emotionally horrific trial. 8A.App.1710;15A.App.3081.

Regardless of Dr. Paglini's findings, there was not a likely scenario that was going to be good for Brooke and Rylee or any other member of the family, including Vivian. 15A.App.3081. The depositions of the children and a full blown trial seemed inevitable. 15A.App.3081.

Therefore, the only viable option Kirk had to expeditiously settle custody for the best interests of his children was to follow the advice of Dr. Roitman and settle custody prior to Dr. Paglini making his determination. 15A.App.3081. Custody was resolved by stipulation and order on July 11, 2012. 7A.App.1408-1424.

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