IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KIRK ROSS HARRISON,

Appellant/Cross-

Respondent,

v.

VIVIAN MARIE LEE HARRISON,

Respondent/Cross-

Appellant.

Supreme Court No. 66072
District Court Electronically Filed
Oct 06 2015 01:00 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT
EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR COUNTY OF CLARK
BRYCE DUCKWORTH, DISTRICT JUDGE

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DATED this _//_ day of September, 2015

RADFORD J. SMITH, CHARTERED

RADFÓRD J. SMITH, ESO

By:

Nevada State Bar No. 002791

2470 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 206,

Henderson, Nevada 89074

Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO APPEAL

1. Standard of Review:

NRS 125.150(4)³ grants Nevada district courts the discretion to award attorney's fees in divorce actions. There is no presumption under Nevada law, as Kirk contends, that each party should bear their own fees. "[D]istrict courts have great discretion to award attorney fees, and this discretion is tempered only by reason and fairness." *Haley v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 128 Nev. Adv. Rep. 16, 273 P.3d 855, (2012). "[I]n determining the amount of fees to award, the court is not limited to one specific approach; its analysis may begin with any method rationally designed to calculate a reasonable amount, so long as the requested amount is

³ NRS 125.150(4) reads: "Except as otherwise provided in NRS 125.141, whether or not application for suit money has been made under the provisions of NRS 125.040, the court may award a reasonable attorney's fee to either party to an action for divorce if those fees are in issue under the pleadings."

reviewed in light of the factors set forth in *Brunzell v. Golden State Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969)[.]" *Haley*, 273 P.3d at 860.

Under *Brunzell*, a district court weighs four factors when adjudicating a request for fees: (1) **the qualities of the advocate**: his ability, his training, education, experience, professional standing and skill; (2) **the character of the work to be done**: its difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the litigation; (3) **the work actually performed by the lawyer**: the skill, time and attention given to the work; and, (4) **the result**: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived. *Brunzell*, 85 Nev. at 349, 455 P.2d at 33.

EDCR 7.60(b)(3) also permits the Court to order sanctions and the payment of attorney fees against a party that "so multiplies the proceedings in a case as to increase costs unreasonably and vexatiously." Here, the District Court made findings under *Brunzell*, (16 A.App. 3356-3359), but made no findingrelating to the custody issue under EDCR 7.60. The review of those findings, and the Court's failure to render findings under EDCR 7.60, is under an abuse of discretion standard.

2. The Court's Order did not Expand the Holding in Sargeant, and the Order complied with this Court's requirement to Apply the Brunzell Factors

Kirk argues that the district court expanded the holding in *Sargeant v. Sargeant*, 88 Nev. 223, 495 P.2d 618 (1972), by addressing his contribution, as a trained and skilled lawyer, to save himself fees where Vivian could not. Kirk unreasonably limits the finding in *Sargeant*, and ignores other Nevada precedent applicable to an award of fees.

The fundamental holding of *Sargeant* is that a party need not show "necessitous circumstances" when requesting an award of fees. 88 Nev. at 226-227, The wealth of either party is irrelevant; the question before the Court is whether a party can meet their adversary on an equal footing. In *Sargeant*, the wife's financial condition would have been "destroyed" by causing her to pay her own fees, but that cannot be the only criteria for an award of fees. That criteria would require a party to show "necessitous circumstances" (that their financial condition would be destroyed), the criteria the Court overruled in *Sargeant*. *Sargeant*, as used by the district court, stands for the general proposition that parties should have access to equal resources to support their attorney's fees and costs, and a party need not show necessitous circumstances to justify a distribution of community or separate property to accomplish that equality.

Equally important, the district court here did not solely rely on the "equal footing" principle announced in *Sargeant*. In *Miller v. Wilfong*, 121 Nev. 619, 119 P.3d 727 (2005), this Court held that in family law matters, the district court must

to award in a case. *Wilfong* requires parties seeking attorney fees in family cases to support their fee request with "affidavits or other evidence" that meets the factors in *Brunzell*, and in cases involving a disparity in income, the factors in *Writght v. Osburn*, 114 Nev. 1367, 979 P.2d 1071 (1998). Here, Vivian provided affidavits and other evidence that supported her claim for an award of fees.

Here, the district court performed a careful analysis of the *Brunzell* factors to find that Vivian's fees expended were "not unreasonable." Because of the Court's finding that the fees Vivian expended were reasonable, and the Court's recognition that Kirk took fees earmarked for payment to attorney's that he did not use, and the Court equalized those funds.

Usually, there is a disparity in fees expended. That may be due to a myriad of factors, including the ability and skill of a party to aid in the attorney's presentation. There was substantial evidence supporting the Court's findings that Kirk, who initially drafted every pleading he filed, aided his attorney's in the presentation of his case. His initial custody motion was supported by virtually years of study and preparation by Kirk not billed by his attorneys, Kirk prepared his 132 page affidavit, the draft of the report of Dr. Roitman, and Kirk's draft of the Motion after Kirk had completed them. It was within the district court's discretion to utilize the contribution of one party to fees to determine an equitable award, but here the

method resulted in an award substantially less than what would have occurred if the parties utilized community funds to pay all fees incurred by the community to prosecute the divorce action.

3. The District Court's Denial of Kirk's claims of Overbilling was supported by Substantial Evidence

Kirk argues that Vivian's lawyers overbilled her for services. Under *Brunzell*, the "time and skill required" is a specific factor identified under the "character of work" element of the Court's analysis of a fee request. Brunzell, 85 Nev. at 349, 455 P.2d at 33. The Court should address whether the lawyer's billings reflect the time and skill required to perform the work presented by the facts and law in which the lawyer seeks fees. In its February 10, 2014 order, the Court found, in analyzing that element, that Vivian's fees were not unreasonable. That holding effectively denied Kirk's claims of overbilling.

In her Reply filed in response to Kirk's 133 page Opposition to her motion for attorney's fees and sanctions, Vivian addressed, and with citation to evidence, all of the claims of overbilling Kirk now repeats. Vivian's brief, affidavits supporting the brief, and evidence referenced, all constitute substantial evidence upon which the Court based its denial of Kirk's claims. 13 A.App 2664-2670.

A. Team Approach: Kirk cites as evidence of overbilling that multiple professionals billed Vivian's case. Kirk's billings revealed, however, that 14 people from *his* attorneys' firms billed time on his case (excluding the work Kirk performed

in this case). Thirteen people billed on Vivian's case. 13 A.App 2838. Kirk also cites as overbilling that 8 attorneys billed on Vivian's case; it was 7, and Kirk too had 7 attorneys bill his case. 13 A.App 2838.

Vivian's attorneys did more work at less cost. Kirk's attorneys and their paralegals billed at rates higher than Vivian's attorneys and their paralegals. 13 A.App 2838. *See* Analysis of rates at 13 A.App 2665.

B. Duplicate Billing: Kirk claims that Vivian was overbilled due to multiple attorneys being present at the hearings. Vivian had only one attorney, Mr. Smith, at the hearings of October 24, 2011, and October 2, 2012 while Kirk had two. Except for one hearing on February 24, 2012, Kirk had two attorneys (excluding him) present at all hearings (including in front of the Discovery Commissioner), and Mr. Standish was present telephonically at the hearing of February 24, 2012. 13 A.App. 2666.

Vivian used multiple attorneys because of the size of the case. Kirk, a licensed attorney who performed much of his work, did not need two attorneys at every hearing and meeting. Kirk apparently recognized the size of the case and had two attorneys present.

- C. Excessive Brief Preparation Billing: See, section 4 above.
- **D.** Block Billing and Vague Billing: Even a cursory review of the billings of Mr. Kainen and Mr. Standish reveal that they used the same block billing to

address large amounts of time. 10 A.App 2173. The reality, however, is that the case involved multiple tasks over the same period time, but rarely for more than a few hours. Kirk cites no example of such billing. The tasks where related entries are "block billed" does not render them so vague as to justify excluding them from an award of fees. In *Sunstone Behavioral Health, Inc. v. Alameda County Medical Center*, 646 F. Supp. 2d 1206, 1217 (E.D. Cal. 2009) the Court addressed the difference between acceptable and unacceptable block-billling:

[E]ven where hours are block-billed, a district court should refrain from reducing fees until it first determines whether "sufficient detail has been provided so that [the Court] can evaluate what the lawyers were doing and the reasonableness of the number of hours spent on those tasks." To be sure, the court must be "practical and realistic" regarding how attorneys operate; if attorneys "have to document in great detail every quarter hour or half hour of how they spend their time . . . their fee[s] . . . will be higher, and the lawyers will simply waste precious time doing menial clerical tasks."

, the vast majority of the block-billing identified by defendant involves the grouping of highly related tasks that rarely cover more than a few hours. [. . .] [I]n most of counsel's entries, the court is well-equipped to "compare the hours expended against the tasks and assess the reasonableness of those tasks."

E. Subpoenaing of Medical Records: Vivian did not trust Kirk to reveal all information in his medical records, and the health of the parties is a factor in determining the best interests of a child in a custody action. NRS 125.480. Vivian's mistrust was justified when she learned only after custody resolved, the Kirk failed to report he had undergone psychological care or testing with Dr. Gary Lenkeit, a local psychologist, before he filed his motion. 13 App. 2637.

F. Subpoenaing Unnecessary and Duplicate Financial Records: Kirk claims Vivian's attorneys overbilled by seeking financial discovery from Kirk, and then sending subpoenas out for the same documents. Vivian's attorneys sent the subpoenas to financial institutions only after Kirk refused to provide those documents in discovery. *See* Letter from Mr. Smith to Mr. Standish and Mr. Kainen dated March 5, 2012 (13 A.App 2825) and Motion to Compel Discovery filed on January 27, 2012. 6 A.App. 1293-1296.

G. Designating Custody Experts

Kirk claims that Vivian's attorneys retained six custody experts - three of which were cumulative and two of which were retained after the appointment of Dr. Paglini, who was appointed to "avoid the battle of the experts." Vivian retained Dr. Tienhaus to rebut Kirk's expert witness, Dr. Roitman's report. Vivian retained Dr. Ronningstam and Dr. Applebaum before Dr. Paglini was appointed.

The remaining two experts addressed two of Kirk's fundamental claims supporting Roitman's report. Dr. McKenna is a professor at University of Notre Dame, and arguably the world's leading expert on co-sleeping. At the hearing of February 26, 2012, the only factor the Court addressed (other than confirming that it was not finding that Vivian suffered from NPD), was Vivian sleeping with the children. The history and studies surrounding co-sleeping suggest that the common notion that children are harmed by co-sleeping is erroneous. Vivian's co-sleeping

with the children was one of the elements of Dr. Roitman's diagnosis of NPD. Vivian hired Dr. McKenna to address that issue because Dr. Paglini was obliged by Dr. Roitman's report to address it. Dr. McKenna's resume is at 14 A.App 2850-2894, and his report at 14 A.App. 2896-2935.

The same is true regarding her hiring of Dr. Edward Hendrick on long-term use of phentermine. Kirk's initial motion suggested that Vivian suffered from an addiction to phentermine. Vivian's response was to undergo drug tests. She attached those results, showing negative for all drugs. 3 A.App. 589. She continued to undergo drug tests regularly for many months, the results of which were all negative. 6 A.App 1275.

In his report, Dr. Roitman, at page 2, made the remarkable finding that Vivian's use of phentermine exacerbated her NPD. Kirk characterized phentermine as "speed" in his Opposition to Countermotion filed January 4, 2012, and again upon appeal. Dr. Roitman's and Kirk's opinions were not supported by science. Amphetamine and Phentermine are similar (but not the same) in molecular structure, but had very different effects and categorizations under the DSM-IV. Vivian cited below to the American Society of Bariatric Physicians treatment guidelines titled "Overweight and Obesity Evaluation and Management" that states: "Phentermine, in practice, has proven to have little or no potential for addiction."

Kirk never placed a medical record before the district that suggested that Vivian has suffered any ill effects from any drug she has taken in the past, including Phentermine, but that did not stop him from alleging it.

Dr. Hendrick received his medical degree at Columbia University. He is Board Certified in Bariatric Medicine, and Clinical & Anotomic Pathology. He has devoted his professional life to the study of phentermine, and has published dozens of articles on the subject of phentermine use. Dr. Hendrick provided a report to Dr. Paglini dispelling the notion that Kirk still promotes: that long term phentermine has adverse effects on cognitive function. 14 A.App. 3033 It was appropriate, in light of Kirk's continued allegations about the adverse effect of phentermine use, for Vivian to want to have an expert on phentermine to dispel Kirk and Dr. Roitman's claims. When she hired Dr. Hendrick, Kirk had still refused to accept Vivian's offers of settlement, and was proceeding forward with his NPD claim.

H. Vivian's Financial and Forensic Accounting Experts

Kirk claims that Vivian's financial experts overbilled her. Kirk provided no expert witnesses' declaration to the district court to support his claim. Mr. Boone was Mr. Beadle's counterpart, but also forensic work. Ms. Attanasio had several roles. She appeared at settlement conferences to help divide assets, she met with Kirk and Mr. Beadle to go over the division of the financial accounts, and she

analyzed financial data for the custody action and for the valuation of the ranch.

Both financial experts earned their fees.

I. Kirk's Allegations regarding the Cost of Expert Appraisals

Kirk fails to note that nearly all of his expert appraisers performed "review" appraisals after Vivian's appraisers performed the original appraisal, both for personal property and real estate.

Kirk's allegations regarding a "valuation" by Mr. Lawlis was rebutted below in Vivian's Reply. Mr. Lawlis was a fraud that never completed an appraisal, and never worked on the property. Vivian's attorney's learned of this, and withdrew him as an expert. In violation of NRCP 16.2, Kirk insisted on taking his deposition. *See*, 13 App. 2686-2690.

4. There is No Finding or Order Upon Which Kirk Can Base Any Claim of Error for a Denial of a Motion for Summary Judgment

Kirk argues that the Court discouraged him from moving for partial summary judgment. Kirk filed no motion for partial summary judgment below, and the Court did not rule on such a motion. There is no order that Kirk can cite that supports this claim. He apparently seeks an advisory opinion from the Court on the issue of partial summary judgments and their place in divorce actions. Advisory opinions are prohibited by Art.6,§4 of the Nevada Constitution. *Personhood Nevada v. Bristol*, 245 P.3d 572, 126 Nev.Adv. Rep. 56 (2010).

5. Whether the Court's Affirmation of the Discovery Commissioner's Sanction Against Kirk was Supported by Substantial Evidence

The district court's finding of sanctions for Kirk's failure to produce discovery was supported by substantial evidence. Kirk tactically failed to produce documents for months after they were due, and for some documents (emails, text messages), he never produced them. *See*, Motion to Compel, January 27, 2012. 6 A.App. 1293-1296.

IV.

ARGUMENT ON CROSS APPEAL

1. Whether the district court erred in not awarding Vivian additional and substantial fees and costs she incurred arising from Kirk's claim of NPD that the district court found was unsupported by competent evidence.

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